FILED Jul 30, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COA NO. 32762-1-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE
IN RE DETENTION OF SCOTT HALVORSON:
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
SCOTT HALVORSON,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY
The Honorable Harold D. Clarke, III, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT
CASEY GRANNIS

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in permitting the State's expert witness to testify about appellant's diagnoses for antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse.
- 2. The court erred in excluding testimony about an identified victim's prior sexual behavior under ER 412, in violation of appellant's due process right to present a complete defense under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- 3. The court erred in admitting evidence of the Structured Risk Assessment Forensic Version (SRA-FV) under the <u>Frye</u>¹ standard.
- 4. The court erred in entering the following findings of fact and conclusions of law pertaining to the <u>Frye</u> hearing:
- a. "The SRA-FV is generally accepted within the community of experts who evaluate sex offenders and assess their recidvsim risk." CP 1434 (FF 15).
- b. "The use of a split sample for validation of a risk assessment instrument is supported by a scientific theory that is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community." CP 1435 (CL 5).

¹ Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

- c. "The SRA-FV is an instrument that is capable of producing reliable results and is generally accepted in the scientific community." CP 1435 (CL 6).
- d. "The SRA-FV satisfies the Frye evidentiary standard." CP 1435 (CL 8).
- 5. Cumulative error deprived appellant of his due process right to a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments Of Error

- 1. Where the State's expert did not rely on the personality disorder, alcohol dependence or cannabis abuse diagnoses as the mental abnormality that made appellant likely to reoffend and the trial court instructed the jury solely on mental abnormality as the basis to commit, whether the trial court erred in permitting the jury to consider evidence of these diagnoses because they were irrelevant under ER 401 and unduly prejudicial under ER 403?
- 2. Where the question of whether appellant currently suffered from a nonconsent paraphilia was a central issue at trial, did the court violate ER 412 and appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense in excluding evidence that an identified victim had previously consented to sexual asphyxiation with another man?

3. Whether the court committed reversible error in failing to exclude expert testimony on the SRA-FV because the State did not show the evidence being offered was based on an established methodology generally accepted in the scientific community under the Frye standard?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

In 2012, the State filed a petition seeking Scott Halvorson's civil commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 1-50. The jury found Halvorson met the definition of a sexually violent predator (SVP). CP 1418. The court ordered his indefinite commitment. CP 1428. Halvorson appeals. CP 1429-31.

2. Trial Evidence

Dr. Judd, testifying for the State, diagnosed Halvorson² with paraphilia, NOS - nonconsent (other specified paraphilic disorder - rape), pedophilia, antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse. RP³ 653-55, 669-70, 673-74, 715-16, 729. Judd opined Halvorson has mental abnormalities in the form of paraphilia and pedophilia that make him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of

² Halvorson currently goes by the name of Raymond Scott Reynolds and was referred to by that name during trial testimony. RP 355-56.

³ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: RP - seven consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 7/24/14, 8/18/14, 8/19/14, 8/20/14, 8/21/14, 8/25/14, 8/26/14, 8/27/14.

sexual violence. RP 711, 747. As set forth below, Judd relied on a number of past events in reaching his opinion. RP 651, 655, 657-58, 660-61, 671-72, 714-16.

Halvorson had sexual contact with his two younger sisters as a juvenile. RP 576, 579-82, 611-18.⁴ In 1980, Halvorson pled guilty to first degree criminal trespass based on an event in which he went into the house of 16-year-old C.O. and started cutting off her underpants while she slept in the middle of the night. RP 451-53, 455-59, 470.⁵ 26 years before the commitment trial, Halvorson pled guilty to indecent liberties against four-year-old E.M. based on an event that occurred in 1987. Ex. 2, 3.⁶ Halvorson also pled guilty to first degree rape against 10-year-old D.H., based on an event that occurred pending sentencing on the indecent liberties conviction. Ex. 6, 29; RP 361, 366-67, 731-35, 781-82.⁷ Twenty

⁴ Halvorson admitted sexual contact occurred. RP 384, 441-48.

⁵ Halvorson testified he was drunk at the time. RP 456-57, 471. C.O. was his former girlfriend. RP 451, 453-54. He decided to take her underpants to show guys that had been teasing him that he had a girlfriend and was having sex. RP 457-58, 463. He ran off when C.O. woke up. RP 459. He maintained there was no sexual intent involved. RP 542.

⁶ At the commitment trial, Halvorson denied committing any offense against E.M. RP 367, 370-74, 383, 417, 541-42. He explained he followed his attorney's advice in entering the plea and that he pled guilty because he was afraid of a long prison term in Walla Walla where he could be attacked. RP 376-77, 381-82.

⁷ Halvorson testified that he did not remember anything involving the event involving D.H. due to an alcoholic blackout. RP 389, 392-94, 411. He pled guilty because he believed he was responsible for the crime, he

years later, in 2008, a jury convicted Halvorson of third degree rape and second degree assault against D.S. based on an event that occurred in 2007. Ex. 11; RP 661, 734.9

Dr. Judd reviewed records that he interpreted as Halvorson's admissions that he had a sexual deviancy. RP 661-65. Halvorson denied having a sexual deviancy when interviewed by Judd. RP 665-66.

While Dr. Judd opined Halvorson has mental abnormalities in the form of paraphilia and pedophilia that make him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence (RP 711, 747), Judd did not believe an antisocial personality disorder predisposes someone to engage in a sexually violent offense. RP 680, 746-47, 752-53. But the interaction between mental abnormality and the personality disorder increased the probability that someone is likely to reoffend insofar as the personality disorder implicates lack of remorse, empathy and concern about the impact on one's behavior on others. RP 680-81, 746-47.

Dr. Judd evaluated Halvorson's risk of reoffense using several risk assessment instruments: the Structured Risk Assessment - Forensic

had a serious problem that needed to be addressed, and he did not want the girl to be victimized further by dragging her into court. RP 395-97.

⁸ The Court of Appeals reversed the jury's special verdict finding that the assault occurred with sexual motivation due to an instructional error. <u>See State v. Halvorson</u>, 152 Wn. App. 1048, 2009 WL 3380973 (2009).

⁹ Halvorson maintained the sex was consensual and that D.S. asked to be choked during intercourse. RP 499-502.

Version (SRA-FV), the Static-99R, the VRAG-R, and its predecessor the SORAG. RP 681-82. Using a Static-99R score of 6, 31 percent group of offenders in the reference sample that scored similar to Halvorson reoffended in five years and a 42 percent reoffended in 10 years. RP 700. Those with a score of 6 recidivate at 2.9 times the rate as the average score of 2. RP 701. On the SORAG, 75 percent of those with a score similar to Halvorson reoffended within seven years and 99 percent reoffended within 10 years. RP 708. On the VRAG-R, 60 percent reoffended within five years and 82 percent reoffended within 15 years. RP 708.

Halvorson's score on the SRA-FV placed him in the high-risk group in the Satic-99R. RP 696-99. Dr. Judd "used the SRA-FV to look at the density or needs that he has, which are relatively high, and I felt that this was indicative of a higher level risk for violent recidivism, sexually violent recidivism, than what was indicated by the Static-99R." RP 709. Given that the risk assessment instruments had comparatively "discordant findings," Judd used his clinical judgment to arrive at his opinion that Halvorson was at high risk to reoffend. RP 766-67, 822-23.

Dr. Donaldson, a clinical psychologist specializing in forensic psychology, testified on behalf of Halvorson. RP 835. Donaldson opined

¹⁰ The VRAG-R and its predecessor, the SORAG, broadly measure risk of violent reoffense, not limited to violent sex offenses. RP 706-07.

there was insufficient evidence to conclude Halvorson currently suffered from a mental abnormality. RP 842-43, 861. According to Donaldson, there is almost no science to support such a finding. RP 870. Paraphilia diagnoses have poor reliability. RP 845, 854-55. The paraphilia - nonconsent diagnosis is not scientifically credible and was "basically contrived in order to somehow shoehorn rapists into a mental illness." RP 848-49. The pedophilia diagnosis, meanwhile, lacks empirical evidence to back it up because those diagnosed with pedophilia recidivate at the same rate as simple child molesters. RP 846, 898. Halvorson had not shown symptoms of pedophilia for many years. RP 893. Antisocial personality disorder diagnoses have poor reliability. RP 862.

Donaldson further testified there was insufficient evidence to show Halvorson had serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior. RP 853. There is no way to accurately predict an individual's risk of sexual reoffense. RP 856, 859. The prediction instruments that do exist say nothing about the risk of an individual. RP 859. This is a structural problem with the science. RP 869-70, 874.¹¹

Halvorson presented other evidence in his defense. Halvorson had a current girlfriend and the two were planning to live together. RP 971-73, 992-93. A pastor in the community had a relationship with Halvorson and was willing to provide spiritual guidance to him. RP 961-64. Halvorson would be on community custody for up to three years if released. RP 994-96.

C. ARGUMENT

1. EXPERT TESTIMONY THAT HALVORSON SUFFERED FROM A PERSONALITY DISORDER, ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE AND CANNABIS ABUSE WAS IRRELEVANT UNDER ER 401 AND INADMISSIBLE UNDER ER 403.

The "to commit" instruction required the State to prove Halvorson suffers from a mental abnormality and that this mental abnormality makes him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. Testimony about Halvorson's personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses were not relevant because the jury was not instructed on personality disorder as means to commit Halvorson, and the other two diagnoses were not relied on by the State's expert as mental abnormalities. In light of the "to commit" instruction, such testimony was misleading and confusing under ER 403. The trial court thus erred in allowing the jury to consider expert testimony that Halvorson suffered from antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse.

a. Over defense objection, the court permitted the jury to hear expert testimony that Halvorson suffers from antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse.

Before trial, Halvorson's counsel moved to exclude reference to Dr. Judd's diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse. CP 1216-20; RP 231-32. Counsel argued that Dr. Judd

relied only on the paraphilia and pedophilia diagnoses in opining that Halvorson had a mental abnormality that made him likely to reoffend. CP 1219-20. Dr. Judd did not rely on the antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses as the basis for his opinion that Halvorson met the commitment criteria. CP 1220. Dr. Judd did not identify the antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse conditions predisposed Halvorson to commit acts of sexual violence. CP 1220. Counsel thus argued evidence of such diagnoses was irrelevant under ER 401/402 and would likely confuse and mislead the jury under ER 403. CP 1220.

With regard to the antisocial personality disorder diagnosis, the State argued such evidence was proper because the jury would be instructed on whether Halvorson's mental abnormality or personality disorder made him likely to reoffend. RP 234. According to the State, the personality disorder evidence should be admitted because Dr. Judd's testimony would be that the personality disorder interacts with Halvorson's "pedophilic issues in a way that dramatically heightens his risk." RP 234. With regard to the alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses, the State argued such evidence was admissible because history showed alcohol was involved in prior offenses and his drinking impacted his risk of reoffense. RP 232-33.

The trial court ruled the personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses were "appropriate" and that the prejudice from the latter two diagnoses did not outweigh their relevance. RP 312-13.

During trial, Dr. Judd focused on the paraphilia and pedophilia as the mental abnormalities that make Halvorson more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. RP 747. Judd did not include the antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence or cannabis abuse as part of the mental abnormality. RP 653-54, 716-17, 746-47. Judd opined the antisocial personality disorder did not have the "kind of specificity to crimes of predatory acts of sexual violence." RP 752-53. Judd considered the antisocial personality disorder to be a factor increasing the risk of reoffense, but did not believe it predisposed someone to engage in a sexually violent offense. RP 680, 746-47, 752-53. The alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses did not factor into Judd's risk assessment. RP 716-17.

Based on Dr. Judd's testimony, Halvorson's counsel later objected to inclusion of "personality disorder" in the State's proposed "to commit" instruction. RP 937-38. The State initially disagreed, contending the jury could disregard Dr. Judd's testimony and rely on the presence of a personality disorder as the basis to commit. RP 938-40. The court wondered whether the evidence supported inclusion of personality disorder in the instruction. RP 940-41. The State agreed to remove reference to

personality disorder in the "to commit" instruction as "a more conservative approach." RP 944. The "to commit" instruction given to the jury therefore only referenced mental abnormality, not personality disorder. CP 1397. The terms "mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" were defined for the jury in separate instructions. CP 1398, 1399.

b. Where the State's expert opines that Halvorson suffers from a mental abnormality that makes him likely to commit acts of predatory sexual violence and the jury is accordingly instructed on mental abnormality as a means to find Halvorson meets the SVP definition, expert testimony that he suffers from other mental conditions is irrelevant and inadmissible under ER 403.

Trial court decisions regarding admission of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Larry</u>, 108 Wn. App. 894, 910, 34 P.3d 241 (2001). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 104 Wn. App. 516, 521, 17 P.3d 648 (2001).

To understand why the trial court abused its discretion in admitting expert testimony on the diagnoses at issue, an overview of the relevant law is helpful. Chapter 71.09 RCW authorizes the commitment of those found to meet the SVP definition. RCW 71.09.060(1). An SVP is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which

makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18).

"Mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are alternative means for making the SVP determination. <u>In re Detention of Halgren</u>, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). Each has its own particular statutory definition. The jury, however, was not instructed that it could commit Halvorson on the basis of a personality disorder. Instead, the "to commit" instruction was limited to the mental abnormality means. CP 1397.

The "to commit" instruction impacts what evidence is relevant and what is irrelevant. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of a fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. ER 402. Further, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially

[&]quot;Mental abnormality" means "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8). "Personality disorder" means "an enduring pattern of inner experience and behavior that deviates markedly from the expectations of the individual's culture, is pervasive and inflexible, has onset in adolescence or early adulthood, is stable over time and leads to distress or impairment." RCW 71.09.020(9).

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury[.]" ER 403.

The jury was not instructed on the personality disorder means for proving Halvorson met the SVP definition because the State's expert, Dr. Judd, did not opine that Halvorson's personality disorder makes him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. Based on the way the jury was instructed, it could not consider the personality disorder as contributing to risk of reoffense. Evidence of Halvorson's personality disorder was irrelevant to the mental abnormality-focused question the jury had to answer in order to find Halvorson met the statutory criteria for commitment. It was therefore improper to allow Dr. Judd to testify that Halvorson suffered from a personality disorder and that this disorder contributed to his risk of reoffense. Dr. Judd testified the personality disorder interacted with the mental abnormality and thereby contributed to the risk of reoffense. RP 680-81, 746-47. But that testimony was irrelevant because the jury was only authorized to consider whether a mental abnormality made Halvorson more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence, not whether the personality disorder did, even as a contributing factor.

Expert testimony on the personality disorder was also misleading, confusing and unfairly prejudicial under ER 403 because its presence invited the jury to rely on the personality disorder as a basis to commit Halvorson.

The "to commit" instruction limited the State to the mental abnormality means of proving Halvorson met the commitment criteria, but Dr. Judd relied on the personality disorder to boost his risk assessment. RP 680-81, 746-47. Consistent with Dr. Judd's testimony, the State argued to the jury that the personality disorder folded into the risk of reoffense. RP 1068-69.

Testimony on the personality disorder was inadmissible under ER 403 because it was presented to the jury as something to consider in reaching its verdict while the "to commit" instruction did not authorize the jury to consider evidence of a personality disorder in deciding whether the State had proven its case. The prejudicial effect of the personality disorder evidence outweighed its probative value because, under the "to commit" instruction, such evidence was irrelevant and had no probative value. But the State used this evidence to Halvorson's disadvantage in pointing to the personality disorder as contributing to the risk of reoffense. The trial court therefore erred in permitting the State to rely on personality disorder evidence to meet its burden that Halvorson suffered from a mental abnormality that made him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

Based on Judd's pre-trial evaluation, it was known at the time of the court's ruling that Judd would be relying on the mental abnormality, not personality disorder, as the condition that made Halvorson more likely than

not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. CP 1265, 1267. Defense counsel pointed this out. CP 1219-20. The court admitted the personality disorder evidence anyway. There was no tenable basis to admit the evidence based on Dr. Judd's opinion in relation to application of the law to the facts of the case.

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