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

12  The victim's reputation was not placed in controversy at Halvorson's trial 
because she was deceased. CP 1618-21; RP 269, 291. 

13  There do not appear to be any published cases addressing the admissibility of 
evidence in civil cases under ER 412(b). However, criminal cases involving the rape 
shield statute, RCW 9A.44.020, provide some guidance as to the issue of consent. 
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Supreme Court has emphasized that evidence of consensual sex with 

others in the past, without more, does not meet the bare relevancy test of 

ER 401. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 10; see also Brewer v. US., 559 A.2d 317, 

321 (D.C. 1989) ("The fact that a woman is a prostitute, which may prove 

that she has had consensual sex with others, has nothing to do with 

whether she consented to sexual intercourse with a particular defendant.") 

There are three factors necessary before evidence of prior sexual 

conduct is admissible on the issue of consent: (1) it must be relevant; (2) 

its probative value must substantially outweigh the probability that its 

admission will create a substantial danger of unfair prejudice; and (3) its 

exclusion will result in denial of substantial justice to the defendant. 

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 7. A "particularized factual showing" of similarity 

between the prior consensual sexual acts and the acts claimed by the 

defendant to be consensual is required. Id. at 10-11; see also State v. 

Morley, 46 Wn. App. 156, 158-59, 730 P.2d 687 (1986). However, even if 

such similarity is shown, the probative value must also substantially 

outweigh the danger of undue prejudice. Id. 

In Hudlow, the Court found that the proffered evidence concerned 

only the "general promiscuity" of the victims and lacked further indicators 

showing any factual similarities between the past consensual sexual 

activity and the current incident. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 17. Without such 
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particularized factors, the relevancy of the evidence was limited at best. Id. 

The Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding 

the evidence because it was "of little or no probative worth on the issue of 

consent[.] " Id at 17-19 

The presumption of inadmissibility of prior sexual behavior on the 

issue of consent is because such evidence "is usually of little or no 

probative value in predicting the victim's consent to sexual conduct on the 

occasion in question." Id at 9; see also State v. Cecotti, 31 Wn. App. 179, 

182, 639 P.2d 243 (1982) ("Only in the extreme case of the 

indiscriminately promiscuous woman can it be argued that past sexual 

behavior with third persons is even minimally relevant to consent.") 

Halvorson sought to admit testimony that a witness observed D.S. 

ask another man to "choke" her during a sexual encounter. RP 288. The 

witness, Ms. Anstine, would have testified that she was at a bar called 

"The Flame" when a man picked her up to "party." CP 1836-37.14  They 

went to his hotel room where the man's friend had "already started the 

party" with D.S. CP 1837. They partied, drank alcohol, smoked crack, got 

paid for sex, and left. See CP 1837-41. She saw D.S. engage in oral sex 

and sexual intercourse with the man and heard D.S. say, "Choke me. 

14  Ms. Anstine claimed that both she and D.S. had a history of prostitution. CP 
1798-1800, 1808, 1837-41. Other than Halvorson's testimony and Ms. Anstine's 
proffered testimony, there was no other evidence that D.S. ever worked as a prostitute 
and the State did not concede this version of events at trial. 
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Choke me." CP 1848-49. She did not know what year this happened. RP 

288-89; CP 1838-39. Halvorson argued that this testimony was relevant to 

his theory that D.S. asked him to choke her during the 2007 incident. See 

RP 275-77. 

The trial court ruled the evidence was speculative, somewhat 

remote in time, and not relevant. RP 314-15. The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion in excluding the evidence. Under Hudlow, Halvorson has not 

made a "particularized factual showing" of similarity between the alleged 

prior sexual act with an unknown male at an unknown date and the 2007 

rape. See Hudlo-w, 99 Wn.2d at 10-11. 

The incident at the hotel, occurring at some unknown date, is not 

factually similar to the 2007 rape. We know nothing about the identity of 

the man or the circumstances of his involvement with D.S. We know 

nothing about the nature of their relationship or how they ended up in a 

hotel room. There is no indication that the alleged statement was said 

because D.S. enjoyed being choked, as opposed to something the "trick" 

paid her to say or paid her to do.15  It is completely speculative that D.S. 

actually enjoyed being "choked" during sex. There was no offer of proof 

from the witness that D.S. ever said she enjoys being choked during sex. 

15  If the hotel incident was an act of prostitution by D.S. as Ms. Anstine claimed, 
it is unclear why the "trick" would be doing what the prostitute found pleasurable as 
opposed to what he paid her to do. 
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See CP 1769-1854. Moreover, there is no indication that the man actually 

choked D.S., and there is no indication that D.S. had any injuries, let alone 

to the level of injury she suffered from Halvorson. See RP 470, 541, 548-

53, 573, 734, 785-86; Ex. P-25, Ex. P-26. It was within the trial court's 

discretion to rule that this testimony was speculative and not relevant. See 

RP 314-15. 

First and foremost, a jury already convicted Halvorson of two 

crimes for his acts against D.S. Ex. P11; RP 470. His guilt or innocence 

was not the issue before the jury in these proceedings. Halvorson's mental 

conditions and risk for re-offense were the issues this jury was deciding. 

Second, the circumstances of the rape of D.S. are nothing like the alleged 

hotel incident. Halvorson testified that he met D.S. in 2005 after she ran 

up to him and asked for a ride after fleeing from two men. RP 471-72. 

They exchanged first names and he gave her a ride home, where they 

smoked cigarettes and drank beer. RP 472-73. Approximately five or six 

months later, he ran into D.S. at "The Flame" and she invited him to party 

at her home. RP 473-74. That evening, Halvorson gave D.S. $20 to buy 

crack. RP 476-78. He spent the night, but did not make any sexual 

advances because he has erectile dysfunction issues when he drinks to 

excess. RP 479-80. Halvorson testified that he next saw D.S. in August 

2006 when he stopped by her house. RP 484. They drank alcohol and 
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smoked cigarettes, but Halvorson refused to buy her crack. RP 485-86. 

After four hours, Halvorson left after D.S. became surly. RP 486-87. 

Halvorson next saw D.S. in April 2007, on the night of the rape. 

See RP 488-89. He testified that he went to D.S.'s home in the middle of 

the night "to have fun" and "hoping to have some sex." See RP 481-84, 

489-94. He had been drinking and had a "pretty good buzz." RP 489-93. 

According to Halvorson, D.S. agreed to have sex with him in exchange for 

$40 to buy crack. RP 495-97. He testified that after 10-15 minutes of 

"regular" intercourse, D.S. asked him to "softly choke" her because it 

"gets [her] off." RP 500. He agreed, but requested anal sex. RP 500-01. 

During anal sex, he put his left hand around her throat and "started softly 

to the best of [his] ability cutting off her air supply." RP 501. After ten 

minutes, her head started bobbing up and down like she was losing 

consciousness and she was making odd, gurgling noises. RP 501. She 

repeatedly told him she was okay, but he was uncomfortable and started 

losing his erection. RP 501-02, 535-36. They returned to "regular" 

intercourse and he ejaculated. ER 502. When Halvorson left, he took back 

the $40 he had given D.S. RP 503-05.16  

16  Halvorson's claim that he and D.S. were acquaintances who had several 
encounters over the years is arguably not supported by the evidence in light of the fact 
that detectives had to identify him by fingerprints left at the scene. See RP 531, 546-47. 
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Even if Halvorson were able to articulate some sort of 

particularized similarity between the incidents, the probative value does 

not substantially outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice. See Hudlow, 99 

Wn.2d at 11. Admitting evidence that D.S. asked another man to choke 

her during sex to bolster Halvorson's consent claim would be akin to 

allowing evidence that a victim must have consented to having sex in a 

particular sexual position with one man because she did so in the past with 

a different man. This does not rise to the level of a particularized factual 

showing and does not make it more probable that the victim consented. 

See Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 17. The evidence is too prejudicial to the fact-

finding process and would mislead the jury and potentially lead to a 

decision on an improper or emotional basis. See id. at 13-15. 

Further, the trial court did not err by excluding the evidence based 

on remoteness. Questions of remoteness are matters within the sound 

discretion of the trial court. State v. Kalamarski, 27 Wn. App. 787, 790, 

620 P.2d 1017 (1980). In Kalamarski, the Court held that the trial court 

did not abuse its discretion by excluding evidence that the victim and 

defendant had consensual sex eighteen months prior to the rape. Id. 

In Gregory, the trial court excluded evidence of the rape victim's 

prior 1995 prostitution conviction because it was too remote in time and 

too different in character to be relevant to the 1998 rape. Gregory, 158 
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Wn.2d at 782-86. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion by excluding the prior conviction where at least two 

years separated the incidents. Id. at 786. The Court noted that Gregory was 

properly allowed to argue that the victim consented to have sex with him 

on the night in question for money. Id at 787. First, Halvorson was unable 

to even establish when the prior alleged prostitution incident occurred.17  

Second, similar to Gregory, Halvorson was allowed to testify in detail that 

D.S. consented to having sex with him for money and consented to being 

choked during sex. See RP 495-502, 534-36. The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion in excluding the evidence. 

2. 	The Trial Court Did Not Deprive Halvorson Of The 
Right To Present A Defense 

Halvorson argues that the trial court violated his due process right 

to present a complete defense by excluding testimony about the rape 

victim's previous sexual encounter with another man. App. Br. at 16. 

Halvorson's claim lacks merit. First, Halvorson does not have a 

constitutional right to admit irrelevant evidence. Second, even if the 

evidence was relevant, the State had a compelling interest in excluding it. 

17  As previously discussed, counsel suggested it "probably" occurred in 2006, 
approximately one year before the rape. CP 1631-32; RP 295. The trial court ruled this 
was somewhat remote. RP 314-15. However, as there were no witnesses to testify as to 
when the incident occurred, Halvorson cannot possibly meet the remoteness test. 
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Finally, the Court permitted Halvorson to testify in detail about his version 

of events, which included his consent defense. 

Appellate courts review a claim of a denial of a Sixth Amendment 

right to present a defense de novo. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 

230 P.3d 576 (2010). The United States Supreme Court has acknowledged 

its reluctance to impose constitutional restraints on ordinary evidentiary 

rulings by state trial courts. Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 689, 106 S. 

Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986). The Constitution leaves judges with 

"wide latitude" to exclude evidence that is repetitive, marginally relevant, 

or poses undue risk of harassment, prejudice, or confusion of the issues. 

Id. at 689-90 ("In any given criminal case the trial judge is called upon to 

make dozens, sometimes hundreds, of decisions concerning the 

admissibility of evidence.") 

Although a defendant has the right to present a defense, that right 

is not absolute. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Defendants have a right to 

present only relevant evidence. Id "There is no right, constitutional or 

otherwise, to have irrelevant evidence admitted." State v. Darden, 145 

Wn2d 612, 624, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) citing Hudlo-w, 99 Wn.2d at 15; see 

also Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 362-63. 

The State must have a compelling state interest to exclude relevant 

evidence. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 15-16. The defendant's right to put on 
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relevant evidence is counterbalanced by the State's interest in seeing that 

the evidence is not so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-

finding process. Id. at 15. The court should consider the prejudice to the 

fact-fmding process to determine if the victim's past sexual conduct would 

confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or cause the jury to decide the case on 

an improper or emotional basis. Id. at 13-14. 

First, Halvorson did not have a right to present the proffered 

testimony because it was simply not relevant. However, even if the 

evidence was relevant, the State had a compelling interest in barring 

evidence that would distract and inflame jurors that was of little to no 

probative worth. See id. at 16; see also Morley, 46 Wn. App. at 160. 

Second, Halvorson's constitutional right to present a defense was 

satisfied by the trial court allowing him to testify that the encounter was 

consensual and that the victim asked him to choke her. See Aguirre, 168 

Wn.2d at 363. Unlike the defendant in Jones, Halvorson was permitted to 

testify in detail about his version of events involving D.S. and his claim 

that the entire encounter, including asphyxiation, was consensual. See RP 

489-505, 534-36; see also Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713 (trial court violated 

defendant's right to present a defense by refusing to let him testify or 

introduce evidence as to the circumstances surrounding the charged rape). 
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In Morley, Morley's defense was that the victim offered him sex in 

exchange for $20 when he gave her a ride. Id. at 157. He sought to 

introduce evidence that the rape victim told his fiancé about prior acts of 

prostitution and that the victim offered another man sex in exchange for 

$40 when he gave her a ride shortly before the incident. Id. at 157-59. The 

trial court admitted testimony about the victim offering sex in exchange 

for $40, but excluded the prostitution evidence as not relevant, lacking 

similarity, and no indication of time. Id The Court of Appeals held that 

the trial court did not abuse its discretion, especially in light of admitting 

testimony about the offer of sex in exchange for $40. Id. at 160. The Court 

noted that the defendant "had ample opportunity to present his theory", but 

the jury chose not to believe it. Id. 

Similar to Morley, Halvorson had ample opportunity to present his 

defense. See Morley, 46 Wn. App. at 160. Halvorson testified in detail 

about the circumstances surrounding the incident with D.S. See RP 489-

505, 534-36. Further, the trial court admitted testimony from a witness that 

she had observed D.S. exchange money for sex with another man at a bar 

within a week of the incident between Halvorson and D.S. RP 314-15, 

976-89. Thus, the jury heard evidence that corroborated Halvorson's claim 

of prostitution and consensual sex. 

29 



Finally, the question before the jury was not whether Halvorson 

forcibly raped and choked D.S. A jury already found beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Halvorson was guilty of raping and assaulting D.S. Ex. P-11; 

see also RP 470. At Halvorson's SVP trial, the fact finder must resolve 

one question: "Has the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Scott 

Halvorson is a sexually violent predator?" CP 1418. This question 

involves only three elements: (1) That Halvorson has been convicted of a 

crime of sexual violence; (2) That Halvorson suffers from a mental 

abnormality which causes serious difficulty in controlling his sexually 

violent behavior; and (3) That this mental abnormality makes him likely to 

engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confmed to a secure 

facility. CP 1397. In order to challenge the trial court's exercise of its 

discretion, Halvorson must show that the excluded evidence was relevant 

to one of these elements. See In re Detention of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 310-

12, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010). In this endeavor, he fails. 

Even assuming arguendo, that the trial court erred in excluding 

testimony of D.S.'s alleged prior sexual encounter, the error was harmless. 

Evidentiary error warrants reversal only if it results in prejudice and there 

is a reasonable probability that the error materially affected the outcome of 

the trial. In re Detention of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410, 256 P.3d 302 

(2011). An error is harmless if the evidence is of minor significance in 
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reference to the evidence as a whole. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 

30 P.3d 1255 (2001). 

Dr. Judd considered and relied on a variety of information to 

support his opinion that Halvorson suffered from a mental abnormality,

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